Many people are aware of Temple Beth Zion at 805 Delaware Avenue in Buffalo, but few know its origins or about its hidden trove of historic and contemporary artistic works.

Buffalo’s first synagogue was founded as an orthodox congregation in 1850. Temple Beth Zion, Buffalo’s first Reform Jewish congregation was officially dedicated in 1865 on Niagara Street. In 1890 an exotic Byzantine style building with a cooper-covered, half-sphere dome was opened on the present Delaware Avenue site. This building was destroyed by fire in 1961. A new facility, designed by architect Max Abramovitz, was rebuilt in 1966. It features ten scalloped outside walls, symbolizing the Ten Commandments, which flare 15 degrees outward towards the sky. Artist Ben Shahn (1898 - 1969) was commissioned to create two stained glass windows, an interior sculptural rendition of the Ten Commandment tablets, and a menorah.

Shahn’s artistic reputation was set in 1932 with The Passion of Sacco and Vanzetti series of paintings. Both the content and style of the work proclaimed his commitment to social realism and an agenda of political reform. Shahn was also involved with photography and many of his works were based on photographs. In the early 1950s Shahn’s friend, photographer Walker Evans, taught him the basics of photography. Shahn’s eye for social justice led him to become a photographer from 1935 through 1938 for the Farm Security Administration, whose mission was to inform the country about the plight of the rural poor during the Great Depression. As a Jewish artist living in New York City he was engaged in struggle for social change, but he never idealized or sentimentalized his subjects. He said it was
"Alright to have a soft heart, so long as you have a hard eye." Shahn sought a public art and painted several public murals that were done to serve social causes and move people to action. He combined art and document to fabricate work that could be seen and understood by people without any special training. His commitment to a moral life and public art made him a model artist to communicate the ideals of the Temple.

As one enters from the east, there is a foreshadowing of the Beth Zion’s artistic contents. In the north corner there is a menorah on a pedestal, a candelabrum with six branches and a central socket, designed by Salvador Dali. Inside the sanctuary ones’ eye is immediately drawn to Shahn’s two stained glass windows, reaching a height of forty feet, which frame the front (west) and back (east) of the temple. The congregation faces the east wall window, which is behind the altar that is framed on both sides by the mosaic lettering of Shahn’s tablets. This provides the setting for the Holy Ark where the sacred scrolls, Torahs, and the Five Books of Moses that reveal the law of God are housed. Above the Holy Ark hangs the Ner Tamid (eternal light), a symbol of the nearness of God and reverence for Torah. The Torah is read from a lectern in front of the ark that is shaped like an open book in honor of the Jewish commitment to study.

On the north side is Shahn’s giant menorah, The Shabbat Candelabra, a seven-branched Menorah that represents the menorah in Solomon’s Temple. The sanctuary seats 1,000 people and its balcony holds a 4,000-pipe organ. Tinted glass windows in the ceiling further accent the play of light in the sanctuary, making it a major architectural theme. The open and soaring interior space reinforces this motif by encouraging people to visually follow the bush-hammered walls, which give the concrete surface an antique mottled effect, skyward.

Visitors may think that they have seen it all, but additional surprises wait. Beth Zion’s caretaker, David Maldonado, can show you the Temple’s Cofeld Judaic Museum whose purpose is to document, celebrate, explain, and interpret...